NO. 90037-9

# IN THE SUPREME COURT FOR THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

NO. 69827-3

# IN THE COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION I OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

HUGH AND MARTHA SISLEY, both individually and on behalf of their marital community,

Petitioners,

v.

CITY OF SEATTLE, a municipal corporation,

#### I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONERS

This Petition is filed by Hugh and Martha Sisley, the Plaintiffs in the Trial Court and the Appellants in the Court of Appeals.

### II. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

The issue presented to the Court of Appeals was whether Respondent City of Seattle (the City) could be liable for violating Mr. and Mrs. Sisley's constitutional rights. In addition, the Court of Appeals was confronted with the issue of whether it was error for the Trial Court to find that the Certificate of Release issued by the City did not release accrued civil penalties.

Mr. and Mrs. Sisley now seek review of the February 3, 2014, decision of Division I of the Court of Appeals, which affirmed the Trial Court's summary judgment dismissal of Mr. and Mrs. Sisley's constitutional, tort, and certificate of release claims. A copy of the Court of Appeals decision is attached as Appendix A.

### III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- Whether a civil cause of action exists where a municipality violates a citizen's rights under the Washington Constitution.
- 2. Whether the public duty doctrine bars relief where a municipality unlawfully imposes vacant building

monitoring fees without due process, unlawfully imposes tenant relocation assistance fees without due process, and tortuously interferes with a citizen's business relationships.

- 3. Whether the imposition of over \$3,000,000 in fines as punishment for housing code violations violates the constitutional prohibition against excessive fines.
- 4. Whether a Certificate of Release issued by the City releases the recipient of all requirements of a Notice of Violation, including accrued civil penalties.

### IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

### A. Procedural Summary

Mr. and Mrs. Sisley filed the underlying cause of action in King County Superior Court on May 7, 2010. The City of Seattle removed the case to the United States District Court for the Western District of Washington on June 25, 2010, pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §§ 1441, 1446. Mr. and Mrs. Sisley voluntarily dismissed their federal claims, and the case was remanded to King County Superior Court. Mr. and Mrs. Sisley filed an Amended Complaint on June 6, 2011.

On August 24, 2012, the Honorable Carol A. Schapira heard oral argument on the City's Motion for Summary Judgment. Judge Schapira granted the City's motion in part, and dismissed the majority of Mr. and

Mrs. Sisley's claims. The remaining claims were heard by a jury which, not surprisingly given the Trial Court's earlier rulings, found in favor of the City on November 9, 2012.

Mr. and Mrs. Sisley appealed the Trial Court's partial summary judgment order to Division I of the Court of Appeals.<sup>1</sup> The Court of Appeals affirmed the Trial Court on February 3, 2014.

## B. Factual Background

Mr. and Mrs. Sisley are the owners of numerous residential properties in the City of Seattle, many of which they use as rental properties. In their capacity as landlords and property owners, Mr. and Mrs. Sisley have faced years of mistreatment from the City of Seattle. Finally, in 2010, Mr. and Mrs. Sisley sued the City, and were prepared to present to a jury the aggressive and negligent manner in which the City dealt with them.

Unfortunately, as a result of an adverse summary judgment ruling by the trial court, the jury was not presented with all of the evidence regarding Mr. and Mrs. Sisley's constitutional and tort claims against the City. This evidence should have been presented to the jury – Mr. and Mrs. Sisley were entitled to show the jury that they were standing for their principles, for what they believed to be right, and that they refused to be

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Mr. and Mrs. Sisley did not appeal the jury's findings.

pushed around by the City.

# The City Improperly Transferred Seattle City Light Charges to Mr. and Mrs. Sisley

It appears that Seattle City Light ("SCL") has the authority to transfer unpaid charges for its services used by a resident of rental property to the personal account of the property owner.<sup>2</sup> The property owner, however, may be protected from this practice if the property owner notifies SCL that the resident is responsible.

Mr. and Mrs. Sisley have consistently complied with this procedure, notifying the City in writing that certain charges were attributable to residents of their rental properties. Nevertheless, the City has repeatedly transferred charges incurred on rental properties—even though the required notices were properly and timely provided.

SCL has a process which allows its customers to appeal billing practices or decisions. It is a process, however, without apparent structure or effectiveness. There are no schedules or deadlines. Documents which are received by SCL are either lost, mis-filed, or thrown away. Customers who appeal are supposed to be protected from interim enforcement

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The factual basis for the discussion in this section is set forth in Grant Decl. Exhibits 1-65 (CP 577-766), the deposition testimony of Donna Morse (Grant Decl., Ex. 143) (CP 1095-1135), and the Declaration of Hugh Sisley (CP 556-561). The discussion involves properties located at 1321 NE 66th Street, 6511 16th Avenue NE, 6515 16th Avenue NE, 6321 15th Avenue NE, 1318 NE 65th Street, 6515 15 Avenue NE, 1408 NE 65th Street, and 6534 15th Avenue NE.

action—e.g., notices, debt collectors, and threats to turn off power—while their appeal is pending. Yet these protections were repeatedly ignored by SCL in its dealings with Mr. and Mrs. Sisley, requiring the Sisleys to spend considerable time and expense in resolving their issues with SCL.

# The City Improperly Charged Fees to Mr. and Mrs. Sisley for Its Vacant Building Monitoring Program

The Seattle Municipal Code provides that fees may be charged when the Department of Planning and Development ("DPD") monitors buildings that have been vacated and closed ("Vacant Building Monitoring" or "VBM" fees).<sup>3</sup>

Over the years, the City has repeatedly and improperly charged Mr. and Mrs. Sisley VBM fees for several different properties. Mr. and Mrs. Sisley have timely and properly objected to these charges—as the properties should not have been subject to monitoring or to VBM fees.

Despite their protests, the City continued to send statements and, at least at one point, referred the statements to a debt collection agency which, in turn, sent them dunning notices.

The City's attempts to charge VBM fees were in error. In fact, it

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> The factual basis for the discussion in this section is set forth in Grant Decl. Exhibits 66-90 (CP 767-842), the deposition testimony of Jill Vanneman (both as the City's CR 30(b)(6) designee and individually) (Grant Decl., Exs. 145 and 146) (CP 1148-1177), and the Declaration of Hugh Sisley (CP 556-561). The discussion involves properties located at 6418 Brooklyn Avenue NE and 1322 NE 65th Street, which have been demolished.

has since been learned that the City's lawyer responsible for administering the VBM program concluded that there was no authority to charge these fees. In this case, the City now claims that this conclusion, reached in November 2007, was in error—that the fees were owed. It appears, however, that the City has no intention of pursuing the charges it claims are, or were, owed.

Later, the City again billed Mr. and Mrs. Sisley for additional VBM fees. Finally, in March 2010, in a dispute involving different charges, the City agreed that these charges should be "cleared" and issued "credit memos" which accomplished this task. Confirmation of this fact, however, occurred only after, and in response to, communications sent on behalf of Mr. and Mrs. Sisley.

# The City Punished Mr. and Mrs. Sisley with Unconstitutionally Excessive Fines

The most egregious examples of the City's unconstitutionally excessive fines concern two properties, 6317 15th Avenue NE and 6515 16th Avenue NE, which were found to have housing code violations.<sup>4</sup> After receiving Notices of Violation, the required repairs were made at 6317 15th Avenue NE and 6515 16th Avenue NE was vacated and closed.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> The factual basis for the discussion in this section is set forth in Grant Decl. Exhibits 105-120 (CP 879-951), the deposition testimony of Carol Anderson (Grant Decl., Ex. 138) (CP 1003-1022), and the Declaration of Hugh Sisley (CP 556-561). The discussion involves properties located at 6317 15th Avenue NE and 6515 16th Avenue NE.

In spite of this, punitive fines have continued to accrue at a rate of \$1,600 per day, even while Mr. and Mrs. Sisley have continued to appeal the charges. The City refuses to act on the evidence of compliance that Mr. and Mrs. Sisley have submitted.

As of this writing, it is estimated that the fines now total over three million dollars. The underlying judgments were in the amounts of \$247,400 (Seattle Municipal Court case number 08-100) and \$368,000 (Seattle Municipal Court case number 09-024). Each judgment called for continuing civil penalties of \$600 and \$1,000 per day, respectively. These penalties have continued to accrue for 419 days (SMC 08-100) and 375 days (SMC 09-024). Additionally, post-judgment interest in the amount of 12% per annum has been accruing. These punitive fines, including the underlying judgments (which themselves are largely fine-based), are grossly disproportionate to the nature of the violations and the costs of compliance.

# The City Improperly Charged Mr. and Mrs. Sisley for "Tenant Relocation Expenses," Without Providing Due Process of Law

The City has adopted a program to provide financial assistance to residents who are compelled to move immediately due to circumstances beyond their control (e.g., demolition of their residence or certain housing

code violations).<sup>5</sup> Under certain circumstances, the City holds the property owner responsible for some or all of the expense. Laudable though the program may be, the City has, at times, improperly enforced this program against Mr. and Mrs. Sisley.

In particular, the City has demanded that Mr. and Mrs. Sisley pay "tenant relocation expenses" for an individual who was not a tenant, did not reside at the property, and incurred no expense in re-locating. That the City's demand is improper is not particularly surprising, given that the program is administered without adequate procedural safeguards, thus violating due process. Notably, a City official testified in the trial below that the City treats Mr. and Mrs. Sisley differently when it comes to enforcing certain code provisions relating to tenant relocation expenses, stating that "[i]n the context of the Sisley properties, we do not recognize the term guest." RP 877:23-24. These deficiencies allowed the City to gain the strategic advantage in its enforcement actions.

# The City Improperly Installed Water Services at one of Mr. and Mrs. Sisley's Properties

In November 2006, after determining that one of their properties

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> The factual basis for the discussion in this section is set forth in Grant Decl. Exhibits 121-136 (CP 952-999), the deposition testimony of James Metz (both as the City's CR 30(b)(6) designee and individually) (Grant Decl., Exs. 141 and 142) (CP 1050-1094), and the Declaration of Hugh Sisley (CP 556-561). The discussion involves property located at 6526 15th Avenue NE, which has been demolished.

was vacant, Mr. and Mrs. Sisley cancelled the water service and requested that the meter be removed.<sup>6</sup> The City removed the water meter, as requested, on November 27, 2006, only to re-install a new water meter after concluding, incorrectly, that people were living at the property. Despite Mr. and Mrs. Sisleys' repeated demands, the City refused to remove the water meter and claimed that Mr. and Mrs. Sisley were responsible for the charges.

Mr. and Mrs. Sisley's claims should be reinstated for a full and impartial hearing by the trier of fact.

## V. ARGUMENT FOR REVIEW

### A. Standard for Acceptance of Review

RAP 13.4(b) provides that petition for review will be accepted by the Supreme Court only:

- (1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; or
- (2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with another decision of the Court of Appeals; or
- (3) If a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved; or

<sup>6</sup> The factual basis for the discussion in this section is set forth in Grant Decl. Exhibits 91-104 (CP 843-878), the deposition testimony of Marcus Jackson (Grant Decl., Ex. 140) (CP 1040-1049), and the Declaration of Hugh Sisley (CP 556-561). The discussion involves property located at 6544 16th Avenue NE, which has been demolished.

(4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

At least two considerations apply here – first, this Petition presents a significant question of law, and second, this Petition involves issues of substantial public interest under the Washington constitution.

B. Whether a Civil Cause of Action Exists Under the Washington State Constitution is a Significant Question of Law and an Issue of Substantial Public Interest

In its opinion, the Court of Appeals stated that "Washington courts have 'consistently rejected invitations to establish a cause of action based upon constitutional violations "without the aid of augmentative legislation."" Slip Op. at 4 (quoting *Blinka v. Wash. State Bar Ass'n*, 109 Wn. App. 575, 591 (2001)). Yet the Washington Supreme Court has never considered this issue. In the one Washington Supreme Court case cited by the Court of Appeals, *Reid v. Pierce County*, 136 Wn.2d 195, 213–14 (1998), the Court expressly declined to decide whether "a private right of action for damages 'should be created for a violation of the Washington State Constitutional right to privacy, Art. I § 7." *Id.* at 213.

Whether a cause of action for damages exists under the Washington Constitution is a significant question of law, given the myriad ways in which the Washington Constitution provides Washington citizens with rights more extensive than those secured by the United States Constitution. Moreover, to the extent that an action under the Washington

Constitution might provide more extensive relief than an action brought under 42 U.S.C. § 1983, this is an issue of substantial public interest to Washington citizens. Although the Court of Appeals has rejected such a cause of action, the highest court of the state has not yet weighed in on this significant issue.

# C. Whether the Imposition of Over Three Million Dollars in Fines for Civil Housing Code Violations Violates the Excessive Fines Clause is a Significant Question of Law

The Eighth Amendment of the United States Constitution states that "[e]xcessive bail shall not be required, nor excessive fines imposed, nor cruel and unusual punishments inflicted." A fine is excessive if it is grossly disproportional to the gravity of the defendant's offense. *U.S. v. Bajakajian*, 524 U.S. 321 (1998); *State v. WWJ Corp.*, 138 Wn.2d 595 (1999). Courts look at four factors in weighing the gravity of the defendant's offense: (1) the nature and extent of the crime, (2) whether the violation was related to other illegal activities, (3) the other penalties that may be imposed for the violation, and (4) the extent of the harm caused. *U.S. v. \$100,348.00 in U.S. Currency*, 354 F. 3d 1110 (9th Cir. 2004)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> The state counterpart to the Eighth Amendment is Article I, §14 of the Washington Constitution, which mandates that "[e]xcessive bail shall not be required, excessive fines imposed, nor cruel punishment inflicted." The state constitution provides greater protection than its federal counterpart, see State v. Witherspoon, 171 Wn. App. 271, 301 (2012), review granted 177 Wn.2d 1007 (2013), and thus a violation of the Eighth Amendment is necessarily a violation of Article I, §14.

(analyzing the excessive fines discussion in Bajakajian).

Considering each of these factors in turn, it is clear that the City's fines, presently in excess of \$3,000,000, are excessive. The nature and the extent of the "crime" are housing code violations (e.g., an ant infestation, as found at one property), and which are neither grave offenses nor connected to other illegal activities. Certainly, the amount of the fines, and their *per diem* increase, are grossly disproportionate to the revenue the properties could generate as rentals, or their fair market value.

The fines that Mr. and Mrs. Sisley face are 50 times greater than they could be ordered to pay if they committed a Class A Felony. *See* RCW 9A.20.021(1)(a) (setting maximum fine for a class A felony at \$50,000). Whether the imposition of such exorbitant fines as a punishment for housing code violations is constitutionally permissible under the excessive fines clause – and whether a private cause of action exists if it is not – presents a significant question of law and an issue of substantial public interest.

# D. The Proper Application of the Public Duty Doctrine is of Substantial Public Interest and Should be Determined by this Court

The work of local inspectors in administering building regulations, such as examining structures and issuing permits, helps prevent urban blight and improves the quality of life for all citizens. However,

negligence in performing these tasks may cause great harm to individual community members. In this case, Mr. and Mrs. Sisley have been injured by the City's negligence and tortious interference with their livelihood as property owners. The injury has been compounded by the mismanagement of their municipal accounts and assessments of other charges.

The public duty doctrine applies to governmental functions, but not to proprietary functions. *Borden v. City of Olympia*, 113 Wn. App. 359 (2002) (trial court erred in granting summary judgment in favor of municipality on public duty theory; municipality was operating in a proprietary function while aiding and cooperating with private land developers).

Washington recognizes that the administration of electrical utilities and water services as proprietary functions. *See*, *e.g.*, *Okeson v. City of Seattle*, 150 Wn.2d 540, 550 (2003) (holding a city's electric utility serves a proprietary function of the government; the electric utility operates for the benefit of its customers, not the general public); *Russell v. City of Grandview*, 39 Wn.2d 551 (1951) (holding city was liable for its negligence in operation of water system).

The public duty doctrine cannot excuse the City's conduct in this case because while Building Code *inspections* may be a governmental

function,<sup>8</sup> Mr. and Mrs. Sisley have asserted negligence in the administration of the Housing Code, negligent mismanagement of their municipal accounts, and tortious interference with their livelihood.<sup>9</sup> The other methods employed by the City in its campaign against Mr. and Mrs. Sisley (such as the unilateral and improper imposition of VBM fees) are also propriety functions.

Moreover, there are several exceptions to the public duty doctrine. Taggart v. State, 118 Wn.2d 195, 217 (1992). At least one exception is relevant here—the so-called special relationship exception.

A special relationship is created when (1) there is privity or direct contact between a public official and an injured plaintiff, (2) the public official gives express assurances, and (3) the plaintiff justifiably relies on those assurances. *Taylor v. Stevens County*, 111 Wn.2d 159, 166 (1988); *Moore v. Wayman*, 85 Wn. App. 710, 718, review denied, 133 Wn.2d

-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> County's building code inspections remained governmental, rather than proprietary, function and, thus, remained subject to public duty doctrine. *Moore v. Wayman*, 85 Wn. App. 710 (1997).

The public duty doctrine does not apply to intentional tort claims. A person has a right to enjoy valid contractual agreements and to pursue business expectancies unmolested by wrongful and officious intermeddling. *Calbom v. Knudtzon*, 65 Wn.2d 157, 162 (1964). In this case, the City knew of Mr. and Mrs. Sisleys' business relationships involving their properties and has intentionally and wrongfully interfered with these relationships by engaging in repeated and protracted investigations that interrupted their business and scared away clients. Although the trial Court appeared to reject this claim by finding the City's enforcement of the SMC outweighed Mr. and Mrs. Sisley's "rental interest," no explanation was given for the apparent (and improper) balancing of governmental and personal interests.

1019 (1997) (special relationship exception requires evidence of plaintiffs inquiries and County's specific assurances).

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