Received Washington State Supreme Court

APR - 4 2014

Ronald R. Carpenter Clerk

No. 90032-9

# IN THE SUPREME COURT FOR THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

HUGH and MARTHA SISLEY, both individually and on behalf of their marital community,

Petitioners,

VS.

CITY OF SEATTLE, a municipal corporation,

Respondent.

#### CITY OF SEATTLE'S ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

PETER S. HOLMES Seattle City Attorney

PATRICK DOWNS, WSBA #25276 GREG NARVER, WSBA #18127 Assistant City Attorneys Attorneys for Respondent City of Seattle

Seattle City Attorney's Office 600 – 4<sup>th</sup> Avenue, 4<sup>th</sup> Floor P.O. Box 94769 Seattle, Washington 98124-4769 (206) 684-8200

#

#### I. INTRODUCTION

The petitioners, Hugh and Martha Sisley (the "Sisleys") have failed to demonstrate their petition meets the standards for review under RAP 13.4(b). Instead of identifying issues subject to review, the Sisleys reargued what they presented to the court of appeals and that is insufficient to raise an issue for review.

It is not a significant question of law or an issue of substantial public interest for this Court to determine if a tort claim exists for violating the state constitution. The court of appeals has repeatedly held that without augmentative legislation, a tort claim for violating the state constitution does not exist.

And it is not a significant question of law whether the civil penalties the Sisleys complain of are excessive when this Court previously determined in a different Sisley case where the penalties were first imposed that given the seriousness of the violations the penalties were not excessive and instead, were appropriate.

Nor does an issue of substantial public interest arise in determining that the City's zoning and housing codes enforcement is subject to the public duty doctrine when the law is settled that code enforcement actions are governmental functions.

Finally, an issue of substantial public interest does not arise when the plain language of the City's certificate of release did nothing to release the Sisleys from civil penalties imposed up to the date the house at issue was demolished.

The City will not address two claims not raised in the petition for review.<sup>1</sup>

#### II. IDENTITY OF RESPONDENT

The respondent is the City of Seattle ("City").

#### III. CITATION TO COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

The Court of Appeals, Division I, issued an unpublished opinion in *Hugh K. Sisley and Martha E. Sisley v. City of Seattle*, Nos. 69827-3-I and 69828-1-I (consolidated cases) on February 3, 2014.

#### IV. COUNTER-STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

Tort claims do not exist for state constitutional law violations when augmentative legislation has not been adopted. Have the Sisleys demonstrated a significant question of law or an issue of substantial public interest that a constitutional violation tort claim exits when augmentative legislation has not been adopted?

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The two claims are the reinstallation of a water meter in an occupied Sisley house, and that the City tortuously interfered with their business expectations when the City enforced its code in response to tenant complaints about housing code violations.

The Sisleys, in a previous petition for review before this Court where the penalties they complain of were first imposed, argued the penalties violated the 8<sup>th</sup> Amendment. This Court denied review of that claim. Have the Sisleys demonstrated a significant question of law or an issue of substantial public interest through their second attempt to obtain review of the same issue?

Housing and zoning code enforcement are subject to the public duty doctrine. The City enforced its housing and zoning codes in response to tenant complaints about the unsafe conditions of Sisley rental houses. Have the Sisleys identified an issue of substantial public interest by claiming the City's enforcement of its housing and zoning codes are not subject to the public duty doctrine?

The effect of the certificate of release is determined by the language of the release. The release stated it released the Sisleys from notice of violation ("NOV") repair requirements and did not address releasing the Sisleys from civil penalties. Have the Sisleys identified an issue of substantial public interest arising from the release's plain language that did not release the Sisleys from civil penalties?

#### V. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The history behind this petition is intertwined with a prior Sisley case that gave rise to the civil penalties that the Sisleys again claim are

excessive. The prior case started in municipal court where judgments were entered against the Sisleys, was heard by the court of appeals that ruled for the City, and went onto this Court where review was denied. The prior case will be briefly discussed before the case before this Court is discussed.

### A. The City was awarded civil penalties in a prior case.

#### The 6515 house

In March 2008, after receiving a tenant complaint, the Department of Planning and Development ("Department") issued a NOV for housing violations at 6515 16<sup>th</sup> Avenue N.E. (the "6515 house").<sup>2</sup> The NOV required that the Sisleys correct 17 code violations,<sup>3</sup> and request an inspection when the repairs were made.<sup>4</sup> The Sisleys did not bring the house into compliance before the municipal court judgment was entered.<sup>5</sup>

#### The 6317 house

In June 2008, after receiving another tenant complaint, the

Department issued a NOV to the Sisleys for housing violations at 6317 15<sup>th</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> CP 234-239, City of Seattle v. Sisley, Seattle Municipal Court Civil Case No. 08-100, City's Ex. 6.

 $<sup>^3</sup>$  Id.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> *Id*.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> CP 234-239, City of Seattle v. Sisley, Seattle Municipal Court Civil Case No. 08-100, Judgment 3:8-9.

Avenue N.E. (the "6317 house").<sup>6</sup> The NOV required that the Sisleys correct 26 code violations,<sup>7</sup> and request an inspection when the repairs were made.<sup>8</sup> Like the 6515 house NOV, this NOV required the violations be corrected by an established date and explained that a failure to correct the violations may result in civil penalties.<sup>9</sup> Again, like the 6515 house, the Sisleys did not bring the property into compliance before the municipal court judgment was entered.<sup>10</sup>

# B. An appeal of civil penalties in the prior case was denied by this Court.

After municipal court judgments were entered for the 6515 and 6317 housing code violations, the judgments were appealed to superior court and consolidated for review. During the appeal, the Sisleys moved for an order requesting that Certificates of Compliance be issued for both houses based on Anthony Narancic's declarations filed for the first time during the appeal that stated repairs were made before the municipal court judgments were entered. The superior court declined to order the certificates be issued and

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> CP 240-245, City of Seattle v. Sisley, Seattle Municipal Court Civil Case No. 09-024, City's Ex. 6.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> *Id.* 

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> *Id*.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> *Id*.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> CP 242, City of Seattle v. Sisley, Seattle Municipal Court Civil Case No. 09-024, Judgment 3:1-2.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> CP 4.

remanded the cases to the municipal court to reinstate judgments up to \$75,000.<sup>12</sup>

The City appealed the decision to the court of appeals that affirmed the decision for the City except for reversing the \$75,000 penalty limitation and directing reinstatement of the full judgments. After the court of appeals decision, this Court denied the Sisleys petition for review and rejected the Sisleys' claim that the penalties imposed for their refusal to bring the houses into compliance were excessive. 14

Turning from the prior case, what follows is the factual and procedural posture of the current case.

#### C. The current case's factual summary.

The City enforced its housing code by seeking vacant building monitoring fees when Sisley rental houses were vacant and unsecured.

In October 2006, the City issued a NOV that stated the house at 6418 Brooklyn Avenue N.E. (the "Brooklyn house") was unfit for habitation. <sup>15</sup> The City also determined the vacant house was open to entry and sent the Sisleys a letter that stated the house was being placed on vacant building monitoring status and they would be charged vacant building monitoring

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> CP 514.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> CP 511-523, *City of Seattle v. Sisley*, Court of Appeals No. 65226-5-1 Order on Petitions for Discretionary Review (2010).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> CP at 528.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup> CP 261.

fees as the code provides. <sup>16</sup> The City then filed a municipal court case to abate the house when the Sisleys failed to repair it. Nearly a year later, the Sisleys entered into a stipulated judgment where the Sisleys would repair or demolish the Brooklyn house and the judgment was a "final resolution of the unfit building case"—including their counterclaim that a Director's order directing that the house be closed to entry should have been issued. <sup>17</sup>

In a separate enforcement matter, in March 2008, the City issued a NOV that stated the house at 1322 Northeast 65<sup>th</sup> Street (the "1322 house") was unfit for habitation. The Sisleys stipulated to repairing or demolishing the house in the same judgment entered in the Brooklyn house case. Eventually, the Sisleys demolished the Brooklyn and 1322 houses. <sup>19</sup>

In November 2011, Jill Vanneman, a Department employee,<sup>20</sup> erroneously determined that City code required a NOV be issued before vacant building monitoring fees could be sought.<sup>21</sup> Based on this, the City wrote the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup> CP 276.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup> CP 254-257 (emphasis added).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>18</sup> CP 258.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>19</sup> CP 206-207, Declaration of Patrick Downs at 2:3-3:15. There are two properties in the record, 6418 Brooklyn Avenue N.E. and 1322 N.E. 65<sup>th</sup> Street that were subject to vacant building monitoring fees. CP 250-318; CP 818-842.

The Sisleys describe Jill Vanneman as "the City's lawyer responsible for administering the VBM program." Petition for Review at 6. Ms. Vanneman is not employed by the Law Department and is not responsible for administering the VBM program. She is a Code Compliance Coordinator for the Department. CP 1151.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>21</sup> CP 159-160, Declaration of Jill Vanneman.

Sisleys telling them the monitoring fees for the Brooklyn house would be reversed.<sup>22</sup> Then the City told the Sisleys the monitoring fees for the Brooklyn and the 1322 houses would be waived,<sup>23</sup> and issued invoices to the Sisleys indicating the fees had been reversed.<sup>24</sup> The Sisleys never paid vacant building monitoring fees.<sup>25</sup>

The City enforced its housing code by seeking tenant relocation assistance when Sisley rental houses were unsafe for habitation.

Turning to other Sisley code violations, the Sisleys have entered into agreements with various individuals they call "tenants" who act as managers for their rental houses. <sup>26</sup> These "tenants" include Anthony Narancic who lives in his West Seattle home, <sup>27</sup> who failed to pay thousands of dollars in power bills owing on Sisley rental houses, <sup>28</sup> and who signed declarations filed in the prior case stating he repaired the 6515 and 6317 houses—an

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>22</sup> CP 313.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>23</sup> CP 318.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>24</sup> CP 207-208, Declaration of Patrick Downs at 3:15-4:9.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>25</sup> CP 476, Declaration of Patrick Downs, Exhibit 42, Deposition of Hugh Sisley at 91:3-6.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>26</sup> CP 467, Deposition of Hugh Sisley (Keith Gilbert a "tenant" in 10 houses); CP 467-468 (Sisleys' daughter is a "tenant" in 10 houses); CP 469 (Anthony Narancic a "tenant" in 10 houses).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>27</sup> Verbatim Transcript of Proceedings, November 2, 2012 at 66:14-17.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>28</sup> CP 475, Deposition of Hugh Sisley (Keith Gilbert responsible for power bills for seven Sisley houses); CP 482-488, Deposition of Hugh Sisley (unpaid power bills from seven Gilbert-managed houses totaling \$15,486.43); and CP 489-491, Deposition of Hugh Sisley (Narancic responsible for \$12,625.94 in unpaid power bills).

assertion the jury rejected in the current case. After power was disconnected to Sisley rental houses for lack of payment, the City issued orders requiring the Sisleys reconnect the power as required by state and City code.<sup>29</sup>

Besides houses without power, Sisley houses had no heat or water, defective plumbing and wiring, broken windows, missing smoke detectors, holes in the floors and walls, and ants and cockroaches.<sup>30</sup> Because of the lack of power and other housing defects, the City ordered the Sisleys pay to their tenants—"guests" as the Sisleys call the people who pay rent monthly and live in the houses<sup>31</sup>—tenant relocation assistance that allows tenants to vacate the unsafe Sisley rental houses and relocate.<sup>32</sup> In response, the Sisleys argued Mr. Narancic was the "tenant" and the Sisleys had no control over the housing code violations that led to the orders.<sup>33</sup>

Although the City filed four cases against the Sisleys in municipal court for failing to pay tenant relocation assistance, the City exercised prosecutorial discretion and dismissed three of the cases. The City carried one case forward

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>29</sup> CP 1419-1420. See also, RCW 59.18.060(10); SMC 22.206.160.A; SMC 22.206.050.F.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>30</sup> CP 208, Declaration of Patrick Downs at 4:10-4:16

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>31</sup> CP 497, Declaration of Patrick Downs, Exhibit 44, Deposition of Anthony Narancic at 25:17-24.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>32</sup> Seattle Municipal Code (SMC) Chapter 22.210.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>33</sup> CP 209. Declaration of Patrick Downs at 5:2-5:4.

that has been upheld by the municipal and superior courts, with review denied by the court of appeals.<sup>34</sup> The Sisleys never paid tenant relocation assistance fees.<sup>35</sup>

# The City issued a certificate of release after the Sisley house was demolished.

In August 2012, the City issued a certificate of release after the Sisleys demolished the 6317 house. The certificate of release stated that it released the Sisleys from the "requirements of the NOV." The requirements of the NOV were to correct housing code violations at the property. The certificate of release did not release the Sisleys from penalties imposed by the judgment when it was the judgment that imposed the penalties.

City staff also confirmed the certificate of release only released the requirement to correct the violations identified in the NOV. Diane Davis stated a certificate of release is used to clear title so property can be transferred, <sup>38</sup> and further explained that after a certificate of release has

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>34</sup> CP 435-440, Declaration of Patrick Downs, Sisley v. Seattle, Court of Appeals No. 67870-1-1 Order Denying Discretionary Review.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>35</sup> CP 477, Declaration of Patrick Downs, Exhibit 42, Deposition of Hugh Sisley at 96:18-21.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>36</sup> CP 1190-1191, Plaintiff's Motion Seeking Enforcement of City's Procedures, Ex. A.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>37</sup> CP 1454-1458, Housing Code Notice of Violation 1016356; 6317 – 15<sup>th</sup> Ave. NF.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>38</sup> CP 1034, Deposition of Diane Davis at 37:12-23.

been issued the fines accrued "up to the point of the release" would still be in effect.<sup>39</sup>

### D. The current case's procedural summary.

In May 2010, the Sisleys filed their complaint in King County Superior Court. 40 In August 2012, the Sisleys filed a motion "seeking enforcement of defendant's procedures for confirming compliance with the defendant's housing code." The purpose of the motion was to obtain a determination that the Sisleys repaired the 6515 and 6317 houses and tolled civil penalties, and that the City released civil penalties when it issued a certificate of release after the 6317 house was demolished. 42

In September 2012, the trial court dismissed five Sisley claims: the state Constitution tort claims, the tenant relocation assistance and vacant building monitoring housing-code-enforcement tort claims, the tortious interference with business expectations claim, the excessive penalty claim, and the improper water-supply tort claim.<sup>43</sup> The court determined that the certificate of release did not release accrued civil penalties associated with the 6317 house, but it ended future penalties accruing after the house was

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>39</sup> CP 1034, Deposition of Diane Davis at 40:9-10.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>40</sup> CP 105-111.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>41</sup> CP 1178-1188

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>42</sup> *Id*.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>43</sup> CP 1419-1420.

demolished.<sup>44</sup> The court also determined that the issues of whether the Sisleys brought the houses into compliance after the municipal court judgments were entered, and whether a breach of contract occurred when the City sought payment for the unpaid Sisley rental house power bills by transferring the bills to the Sisleys, should be heard by the jury.<sup>45</sup>

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